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)
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)

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


On August 5, 1999, Bahiya H. Shakur filed a petition appealing a decision of the Missouri Real Estate Commission (MREC).  The decision denied Shakur’s application for a real estate salesperson license because of criminal convictions.  We convened a hearing on the petition on May 10, 2000.  Shakur presented her case.  Assistant Attorney General Craig H. Jacobs represented the MREC.  The parties waived written argument.  Our reporter filed the transcript on May 23, 2000.  

Findings of Fact

1. In 1988, Shakur was married and lived with her husband and their two children, ages 4 and 11.  Shakur’s husband ran a crack cocaine business.  He kept  21 weapons in various places throughout the house, including a window seat in the library and a kitchen cabinet.   He ran a crack laboratory in the basement laundry room next to the computer that Shakur was using 

to set up a retail clothing store.  Shakur used cash from the crack business as start-up funds for the store. 

2. On January 23, 1990, the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri found Shakur guilty, on a jury verdict of guilty, of:

a. Conspiracy to distribute cocaine and cocaine base under 21 U.S.C. sections 846 and 853(a)(2).

b. Possession with intent to distribute 50 grams or more of cocaine base under 21 U.S.C. section 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(A).

c. Use of firearms with relation to possession with intent to distribute 50 grams or more of cocaine base under 18 U.S.C. section 924(c).

d. Three counts of money laundering under 18 U.S.C. section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i).

e. Money structuring under 31 U.S.C. sections 5324(3) and 5322(b).  

United States v. Shakur, No. 88-00208-02-CR-W-9 (Jan. 23, 1990).  

3. The court imposed a sentence of 151 months imprisonment for conspiracy to distribute; 120 months for possession with the intent to distribute, money laundering and money structuring to run concurrently; and 60 months for use of a firearm to run consecutively.  The total was 211 months, which is over 17 years in prison.  

4. The sentence for use of a firearm under 18 U.S.C. section 924(c) was later reversed.  At the re-sentencing hearing, the court reduced her sentence based in part on her extraordinary efforts at rehabilitation, including maintaining a 4.0 grade point average in 40 hours of classes for college credit.    

5. Shakur was released in March 1998 on five years’ parole.  She has consistently worked to better support her children since that date.  She has also done volunteer work for a 

non-profit organization that assists persons recovering from drug use to re-enter society.  She tries to improve society in conformance with the teachings of Mohammed.  Shakur has a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing.  She divorced her husband on December 7, 1999.  

6. On April 21, 1999, Shakur filed an application for a real estate salesperson license, which the MREC denied by letter dated July 8, 1999.  

7. Shakur remains on parole for her offenses until 2003.  

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear Shakur’s complaint.  Shakur has the burden of proving that the law entitles her to a license. Section 621.120.
  

Section 339.080.1 provides:  

The [MREC] may refuse to . . . issue a license to any person known by it to be guilty of any of the acts or practices specified in subsection 2 of section 339.100[.] 

“May” means discretion, not a mandate.  S.J.V. ex rel. Blank v. Voshage, 860 S.W.2d 802, 804 (Mo. App., E.D. 1993).  We have the same degree of discretion as the Board, and we need not exercise it the same way.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  Section 339.100.2(15) describes the following act:

Committing any act which would otherwise be grounds for the commission to refuse to issue a license under section 339.040[.]

At the hearing, the MREC stipulated that the only basis it asserts for denying the application is section 339.040.1, which provides:

Licenses shall be granted only to persons who present, and corporations, associations or partnerships whose officers, 

associates, or partners present, satisfactory proof to the [MREC] that they: 

(1) Are persons of good moral character; and 

(2) Bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing; and 

(3) Are competent to transact the business of a broker or salesperson in such a manner as to safeguard the interest of the public. 

Shakur presented undisputed testimony that her reputation for honesty, integrity, and fair dealing was good.  

Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.  State ex rel. McAvoy v. Louisiana Bd. of Med. Examiners, 115 So.2d 833, 839 n.2 (La. 1959); Florida Bd. of Bar Examiners Re: G.W.L., 364 So.2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1978).  Competence to transact a real estate salesperson’s business in such a manner as to safeguard the public means having the requisite or adequate ability or qualities to do business honestly.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 234-35 (10th ed. 1993).  The same proof may satisfy both requirements.  

The MREC cites Shakur’s multiple convictions for guns, drugs, and financial offenses as evidence that she does not meet section 339.040.1’s requirements.  21 U.S.C. section 846 provided the following as to conspiracies to commit drug crimes:

Any person who attempts or conspires to commit any offense
defined in this subchapter is punishable by imprisonment or fine or both which may not exceed the maximum prescribed for the offense, the commission of which was the object of the attempt or conspiracy.

21 U.S.C. section 853(a)(2) provided the following punishment:

(a) Property subject to criminal forfeiture


Any person convicted of a violation of this subchapter or
subchapter II of this chapter punishable by imprisonment for more
than one year shall forfeit to the United States, irrespective of
any provision of State law –


*   *   *

(2) any of the person’s property used, or intended to be used,
in any manner or part, to commit, or to facilitate the commission
of, such violation[.]


21 U.S.C. section 841 provided the classification and punishment for drug crimes:

(a) Unlawful acts


Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for
any person knowingly or intentionally –


(1) to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with
intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled
substance[.]

*   *   *

(b) Penalties

[A]ny person who violates subsection (a) of this section shall be sentenced as follows: 

*   *   *

(1)(A) In the case of a violation of subsection (a) of this
section involving –


*   *   *

(iii) 50 grams or more of a mixture or substance . . . which contains cocaine base;

*   *   *

such person shall be sentenced to a term of imprisonment which may not be less than 10 years or more than life[.]

18 U.S.C. section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) provided the following definition and punishment for money laundering:

(a)(1) Whoever, knowing that the property involved in a financial
transaction represents the proceeds of some form of unlawful
activity, conducts or attempts to conduct such a financial
transaction which in fact involves the proceeds of specified
unlawful activity -

*   *   *

(B) knowing that the transaction is designed in whole or
in part –


(i) to conceal or disguise the nature, the location, the
source, the ownership, or the control of the proceeds of
specified unlawful activity . . . .

*   *   *

shall be sentenced to a fine of not more than $500,000 or twice the
value of the monetary instrument or funds involved in the
transaction, whichever is greater, or imprisonment for not more than twenty years, or both. 

18 U.S.C. section 5324 provided the following definition of money structuring:

No person shall for the purpose of evading the reporting requirements of section 5313(a) with respect to such transaction-


*   *   *


(3) structure or assist in structuring, or attempt to structure
or assist in structuring, any transaction with one or more
domestic financial institutions.

31 U.S.C. section 5322(b) provided the following punishment for money structuring:

(b) A person willfully violating this subchapter or a regulation
prescribed under this subchapter . . . , while violating another law of the United States or as part of a pattern of any illegal activity involving more than $100,000 in a 12-month period, shall be fined not more than $500,000, imprisoned for not more than 10 years, or both.


Those are the provisions under which Shakur was convicted.  

When the Board proves a criminal conviction, we must determine the applicant’s moral character from his conduct, present reputation, evidence of any rehabilitation, and upon “a 

consideration and determination of the entire factual congeries.”  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 613-14, 616 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  Section 314.200 provides:

No board or other agency created pursuant to laws of the state of Missouri . . . for the purpose of licensing applicants for occupations and professions may deny a license to an applicant primarily upon the basis that a felony or misdemeanor conviction of the applicant precludes the applicant from demonstrating good moral character, where the conviction resulted in the applicant’s incarceration and the applicant has been released by pardon, parole or otherwise from such incarceration, or resulted in the applicant being placed on probation and there is no evidence the applicant has violated the conditions of his probation.  The board or other agency may consider the conviction as some evidence of an absence of good moral character, but shall also consider the nature of the crime committed in relation to the license which the applicant seeks, the date of the conviction, the conduct of the applicant since the date of the conviction and other evidence as to the applicant’s character. 

In showing rehabilitation under that statute, an applicant should also acknowledge guilt.  Francois v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).  

The date of those convictions is over 10 years old, and Shakur has no stain on her record since.  However, money laundering and money structuring are closely related to the license that Shakur seeks, in that real estate salespersons must abide by strict financial standards, like those at section 339.100.2(1) and (3) and Regulation 4 CSR 250-8.120(6).  Most significantly, Shakur has not accepted responsibility for the actions underlying her convictions.  In her petition, Shakur stated:

Much of my guilt lay in inactivity rather than actively participating in the conspiracy. . . . I fully accept responsibility for my own actions and spent almost nine years in federal prison as a result of those actions. . . .

However, at the hearing, she limited that responsibility to unwittingly assisting in the financial offenses.  Shakur maintains that she had no knowledge of the contraband drugs and weapons she was convicted of possessing.  Her assertions on that point – that she was oblivious to the crack lab in her laundry room, and to the cocaine and weapons stashed all over her house – simply are not credible.  

Further, Shakur is still on parole.  The granting of a professional license “places the seal of the state’s approval upon the licentiate and certifies to the public that [s]he possesses these requisites” of skill, good moral character, and the ability and desire to engage in honorable and reputable professional conduct.  State ex rel. Lentine v. State Bd. of Health, 65 S.W.2d 943, 950 (Mo. 1933).  Shakur has not shown that the law entitles her to that seal of approval.  

Summary


We deny Shakur’s application because she has not carried her burden of proof under sections 339.100.2(15) and 339.040.1(1) and (3).


SO ORDERED on June 12, 2000.



______________________________



WILLARD C. REINE



Commissioner

�All statutory references are to the 1994 Revised Statutes of Missouri.
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